
Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 1 of 6 
 

MINUTES 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

OF THE CITY OF WHITE BEAR LAKE, MINNESOTA 

MONDAY, OCTOBER 30, 2023 

7:00 P.M. IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ATTENDANCE 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Mark Lynch, Andrea West, Jim Berry, Ken Baltzer, Pam Enz, Scott Bill 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Mike Amundsen 

STAFF PRESENT: Jason Lindahl, Community Development Director; Ashton Miller, City 
Planner; Shea Lawrence, Planning Technician 

OTHERS PRESENT: Ami Wazlawik, Greg Moore 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Member Enz moved to add a discussion item to the agenda to provide an update on the 

Downtown Mobility and Parking Study. 

 

It was moved to approve the agenda with the addition of the Downtown Mobility and Parking 

Study discussion item. Motion carried, 6:0.  

 
3. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES 

A. Minutes of August 28, 2023. 
 
It was moved by Member Bill and seconded by Member Baltzer to approve the minutes of 
August 28, 2023. 
 
Motion carried, 6:0. 

 
 

4. CASE ITEMS 
A. Case No. 23-27-CUP: A request by Heartland Gun Club for a Conditional Use Permit for 

retail sales in the Business Warehouse zoning district, per code section 1303.180, 
Subd.4.c, in order to sell sporting goods (including firearms) out of the proposed indoor 
commercial recreation facility at the property located at 4350 Centerville Road. 

 
Ashton Miller, City Planner, discussed the case. Staff recommended approval of the case as 
proposed. 



Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 2 of 6 
 

 
Member West explained that she understands the CUP is for the retail portion of the 
property but inquired about the gun range portion. Miller responded that the gun range is 
permitted by right in the Business Warehouse zoning district. 
 
Member West asked about noise issues that could occur with the facility, referencing a DNR 
regulation 87A regarding sound and gun ranges. Miller responded that the case materials 
including a safety operations manual for this application were routed to other departments 
including Police, Fire and Building and they did not bring up any concerns about the noise. 
Member West added that she thinks it’s worth looking into to determine if a sound barrier 
would be required. Lindahl added that staff can look into that statute and how it may apply 
to this facility and noted that the gun range will be entirely indoors. West explained that she 
wanted to bring it up now so the burden to address any noise issues doesn’t fall solely on 
the nearby homeowners after the range is operational. Member Berry added that when he 
has been to indoor gun ranges he hasn’t been able to hear gun fire outside the building and 
the sounds are muffled when inside the building.  
 
Member Enz asked if there is any way to restrict what types of firearm products are sold, 
such as the types that have been used to harm large groups of people. Member Baltzer 
responded that the retail wouldn’t be able to sell anything that is restricted by law. Lindahl 
added that the shooting range is a permitted use and that the retail use would be regulated 
based on state and federal laws regarding the sales of firearm products. Lindahl reiterated 
that the Police Department did not express any concerns about the retail sales. 
 
Member Berry opened the public hearing.  
 
Ami Wazlawik, a resident of White Bear Township, expressed concerns over what firearm 
products will be sold at the property, what restrictions and processes they have for 
purchasing, and the security of the building. 
 
Greg Moore, the applicant noted that the firearm industry is heavily restricted by both state 
and federal laws. He explained that in order to purchase a firearm customers must fill out a 
form which is reviewed in accordance with federal and state licensing requirements just like 
any other retailer that sells firearms.  In regards to the safety of the building, Moore 
explained that all handguns are required by law to be stored in a safe at the end of each day 
and that the safes are very durable. He added that the property will be equipped with a 
security system including cameras and motion detectors. He also noted that there is a state 
law that requires all firearms to be locked when in transport, that their customers must 
comply with when transporting their guns to and from the facility.  
 
Member West asked about the applicant about the noise generated at the facility and the 
regulations surrounding that. Moore responded that Statute 87A regulates the sound level 
for indoor and outdoor ranges. He explained that indoor ranges are required to stay under a 
certain decibel outside the walls which is about equivalent to the hum of a highway. He 



Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 3 of 6 
 

explained that outside the building you can’t hear the noise generated by the firearms and 
that indoors the sound is muffled. Only inside the range portion of the facility is the noise 
significant, and hearing protection is required. Moore explained that the way the building is 
constructed keeps the noise levels down.  
 
Member West asked if the applicant has opened any other gun ranges. Moore responded 
they have a facility in Rochester which has been open for about 4 years. Moore explained 
that it is their priority to open a first class facility with the best technology and high quality 
training programs. The facility will have membership options and will also be open to the 
public.   
 
Member West asked if there would be sales of and training for semi-automatic and high 
caliber guns. Moore responded that the majority of their trainings are for handguns. He 
added that if someone requests training on a larger firearm that they legally obtained they 
will provide the training. He explained that if someone buys a firearm the gun club wants 
them to be properly trained on it. West expressed concern not only about the safety of the 
gun range but also the community as a whole. Moore added that a part of their standard 
operating procedure is that they always have a range safety officer in the range. Member 
West asked if staff will be trained on red flag laws. Moore responded no, that red flag laws 
are related to law enforcement not sales.  
 
Member Bill commented that his family has been through similar trainings at Bill’s Gun 
Range and that it’s all about how to safely handle the weapon and is very extensive. He 
explained that once you’ve been through the background check and it’s determined you can 
purchase a firearm and the ATF guidelines have been followed, at that point the seller can’t 
control if the gun owner does something wrong or not. Member Bill added that it isn’t really 
the seller’s job to determine if someone can buy a high caliber gun— if the person has been 
approved to buy such a firearm they can. Member West replied that she still has concerns 
about those larger guns in particular.  
 
Member West asked the applicant if all guns will be locked up. Moore responded yes, they 
are required by law to lock up all guns except shotguns, but that they plan to lock all guns 
up including the shotguns.  
 
Member Berry closed the public hearing.   
 
Member Bill added that there was a time in which there was a gun club in town at Highway 
96 and White Bear Parkway.  
 
Member Lynch noted that as a Planning Commission they are tasked with looking at the 
retail component which is what requires the conditional use permit. Because the proposed 
retail meets all the criteria for a conditional use permit, he will be voting yes. Member Berry 
added that he appreciated hearing the applicant respond to the questions and concerns 
regarding their practices for sales and training for firearms.   



Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 
Member Enz expressed that she has a hard time with accepting that this is okay and that 
there is nothing that can really stop people from being able to purchase these higher caliber 
guns. She added that she was glad to hear that they will be providing training which is 
probably the first line of defense. She added that it’s her duty to ensure that everything has 
been aligned with the zoning code and that she will be voting yes, but wishes she could vote 
no.  
 
Member West added that she appreciated the applicant answering her questions. She 
explained it is their role as the Planning Commission to make sure that the proposal meets 
the requirements laid out in the zoning code and not decide based on personal beliefs so 
she will be voting for approval.  
 
It was moved by Member Baltzer to approve Case No. 23-27-CUP, seconded by Member 
Lynch.  
 
Motion carried, 6:0. 
 

 
5. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. City Council Meeting Overview 
 
Lindahl explained that City Council approved the height variance for the Pillars located at 
4669 Lake Ave and the fence at 2175 Gardenette Drive. Both applicants have applied for 
zoning permits. 
 
Lindahl added that the City Council also considered new zoning regulations for tobacco 
shops and cannabis sales. The Council voted to approve the option which allows sales of low 
potency THC and decided not to act on adding regulations for dispensary sales yet. Lindahl 
explained that these lower potency edible sales can occur in any commercial zone, but the 
business must have a valid tobacco or liquor license. City Council wanted to proceed 
cautiously as the State Office of Cannabis Management is still being established. Member 
Enz asked when these new regulations take effect. Lindahl explained it is already in effect. 
Member Berry asked how this is related to the limit of how many cannabis shops can be in 
the city.  Lindahl explained that this would not be related to that. Lindahl added that the 
discussion of buffer zones and limiting the number of retailers was in relation to the full 
dispensary type retailers which the City Council did not act on. Member Berry asked if the 
Council had discussed the City owning and operating cannabis dispensaries. Lindahl 
explained that was briefly discussed by the Council but it didn’t seem to gain traction with 
the City Council.  
 
Member Lynch asked if there are currently businesses that don’t have a liquor or tobacco 
license that are already selling these products. Lindahl responded no. Member Berry asked 
if CBD products are affected by these new regulations noting that there are numerous 



Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 5 of 6 
 

retailers that sell CBD products throughout the city. Member Bill responded that CBD is 
separate from THC. 
 
Member Lynch asked about the proposed new tobacco zoning regulations that were 
recently brought to the Planning Commission and City Council.  Lindahl explained that the 
new zoning standards for tobacco did go into effect which restricts new tobacco shops to 
the B-4 district subject to the buffers that were discussed and that there will also be a limit 
of ten for licensing. The existing tobacco shops which don’t meet these zoning criteria will 
be allowed to continue operations because they are now “grandfathered” in. Any new 
tobacco retailers would have to meet the new standards. 
 
B. Zoning Code Update – Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Meeting Overview 
 
Lindahl explained that the kick off meeting for the Zoning Code Update took place in 
September. The meeting was an opportunity to introduce the project, staff and consulting 
team, and discuss the purpose of the CAC. During the meeting the project scope and 
timeline, as well as the process for the update and goals were discussed. The consultants 
outlined the next steps in the process which is a place types analysis of the City as it relates 
to the Comprehensive Plan, existing conditions in the City and the current zoning map. They 
plan to come back to the CAC at the next meeting with this information for further 
discussion. There was also discussion on potential public outreach. Lindahl explained that 
there was also a focus group meeting with local developers to provide their thoughts and 
insights on the zoning ordinance, what they are seeing in the market and the development 
process. Lindahl added that a summary of these meetings are posted to the City website 
along with the meeting materials. 
 
Member Lynch asked for more information on the summaries that are provided on the 
website. Member Berry responded that the place types discussed during the CAC meeting 
are a way of analyzing individual neighborhoods as well as the 24 existing zones laid out in 
our zoning code. He added that this analysis could help to make the new code more user 
friendly for community members and developers. Member Berry added that the 
consultants will start drafting up parts of a zoning code for the CAC to review.  
 
Lindahl added that there will be a draft of the place type maps for the next CAC meeting 
and discussion on how that can fit in with potential zoning districts. The consultants will 
take the feedback they get from the CAC meetings and focus group meetings as well as 
information provided in the Comprehensive Plan, Housing Taskforce Report, and other 
documents and create a framework that will be reviewed with the committee and used as 
an outline for drafting the zoning code. A draft of the place types will be presented for 
discussion at the December meeting to ensure the committee is in agreement on the 
direction of the update. Lindahl added that once there are draft sections of the zoning code, 
it will be brought to the Planning Commission for review.  
  
 



Planning Commission Meeting: October 30, 2023 

Page 6 of 6 
 

C. Downtown Mobility and Parking Study Update 
 
Member Enz provided an update on the latest meeting of the Downtown Mobility Study. 
She explained that the community input portion of the study is closed now. She explained 
that one key thing they have discussed is how to get people to accept the idea of not 
parking directly in front of the business they intend to patronize. She added that the 
consultants conducted counts of parking and only a few locations at certain times reach 
capacity, and that there is typically parking available downtown. The question they face is 
how to educate people on this. One of the options discussed was making the sidewalks 
more appealing with better lighting and landscaping and better connecting different routes. 
They also discussed bike routes and that there aren’t many secure places to keep bikes. The 
group also discussed modification to the intersection at Highway 61 and 4th Street to make 
it safer for drivers and pedestrians. Additionally, they discussed potential one way streets in 
downtown and additional landscaping and greenspaces for pedestrians to enjoy downtown.  

 
Member Lynch expressed some concerns about one way streets in downtown explaining 
that when everyone is going one direction people actually drive faster. He added that 
communities are starting to move away from one way streets in their downtowns. Member 
Enz explained she will take that input to the group. Lindahl clarified that the discussion 
about one way streets was to prioritize more space for parking and pedestrian amenities. 
The potential one way streets could have wider sidewalks, additional parking, angled 
parking, or bike lanes which would work to slow traffic. 
 
Member Enz explained that much of what they discussed involved how to get people 
accustomed walking more downtown and not having the expectation of parking right in 
front of the businesses they go to as opposed to discussions around building a parking 
ramp. 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business before the Commission, it was moved by Member Baltzer 

seconded by Member West to adjourn the meeting at 8:03 p.m. 
 


